IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PACIFIC PALISADES BOWL MOBILE ESTATES, LLC,

Case no. \$187243

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Second Appellate District

Case no. B216515

٧.

Los Angeles County Superior Court case no. BS112956

CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Honorable James C. Chalfant, Judge of the Superior Court

CRC (8.25(b))

SUPREME COURT

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MAR - 2 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

ELLIOT L. BIEN (SB# 90744) AMY E. MARGOLIN (SB # 168192) BIEN & SUMMERS 23 Palomino Road Novato, California 94947 Tel. (415) 898-2900

A.	INTRODUCTION					
	В.	THE MELLO ACT EXPRESSLY PRESERVES THE FORCE OF OTHER STATUTES LIKE § 66427.5					
	C.	DEFERENCE TO § 66427.5 IS COMPELLED BY CASE LAW ON SUBSEQUENT ENACTMENTS					
CON	NCLUSIO	ON50					
		DF LENGTH OF BRIEF DF SERVICE BY MAIL					
Addi	Endum A Endum E Endum (3: Public Resources Code § 30106 (Coastal Act)					

TABLE OF AUTHORIES

Page
CASES
Board of Supervisors of San Diego Cty. v. Lonergan (1980) 27 Cal.3d 855
California Coastal Comm. v. Quanta Inv. Corp. (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 579
Delucchi v. Santa Cruz County (1986) 179 Cal.App.3d 814 28
Dunn v. County of Santa Barbara (2008) 135 Cal.App.4th 128135
El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd. v. City of Palm Springs (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1153 (review denied) passim
Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. California Coastal Comm'n (1982) 132 Cal.App.3d 67831
Grafton Partners L.P. v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944
Gualala Festivals Committee v. California Coastal Comm'n (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 60
La Fe, Inc. v. Los Angeles County (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 23135
LT-WR, L.L.C. v. California Coastal Comm'n (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 770
Marina Point, Ltd. v. Wolfson (1982) 30 Cal.3d 721
<i>Mejia v. Reed</i> (2003) 31 Cal. 4th 657

(1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 169
Ojavan Investors, Inc. v. Cal. Coastal Comm. (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 37335, 3
Penziner v. West American Finance Co. (1937) 10 Cal.2d 160
Reidy v. City and County of San Francisco (2004) 123 Cal.App. 4th 580 (review denied)2
Rich v. State Board of Optometry (1965) 235 Cal.App.2d 5912
Sequoia Park Associates v. County of Sonoma (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1270 (review denied)
Stanson v. San Diego Coast Reg'l Comm'n (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 38
State Building and Construction Trades Council of California v. Duncan (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 289
Whaler's Village Club v. California Coastal Comm'n (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 2403
STATUTES
California Coastal Act of 1976 (Pub. Resources Code), 4 § 30005. 4 § 30007. 4 § 30009. 2 § 30519. 4 § 30600. 2
§ 30106

California Code of Civil Procedure, § 1263.210
California Government Code, § 66427.5 passim
Health & Safety Code, § 50780 (Mobilehome Park Resident Ownership Program)
Mello Act (Gov.Code § 65590 et seq.) passim
MISCELLANEOUS
Hanna & Van Atta, <i>California Common Interest</i> Development: Law and Practice (2010 ed.)
Miller & Starr, <i>California Real Estate</i> (3d ed.)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Plaintiff and respondent, Pacific Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC ("Palisades"), respectfully submits this opening brief on the merits. Its petition for review stated the following questions:

1.

Did the Legislature intend to subject a much-litigated type of mobilehome park subdivision to the exclusive control of Government Code § 66427.5, as held in *Sequoia Park Associates v. County of Sonoma* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1270 (*review denied*) and other published opinions; or, as held below, did the Legislature intend to permit deviations from § 66427.5 whenever a local agency can cite some other state statute as *sub silentio* authority for the deviation?

2.

Did the Court of Appeal correctly hold that the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Pub. Resources Code § 30000 *et seq.*) and the Mello Act (Gov.Code § 65590 *et seq.*) even *apply* to the type of subdivision covered by § 66427.5 — which changes nothing but the legal structure of an existing park to permit resident ownership of existing spaces — when by definition this does not "change . . . the density or intensity of use of land" (Coastal Act § 30106) and does not displace low-income residents within the meaning of the Mello Act?

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mobilehome parks are an important source of affordable housing for many thousands of Californians. In 1984, the Legislature found that many parks "provide low-cost housing for their residents that would be difficult to replace if the parks were converted to other uses. . . ." (Health & Saf. Code § 50780(a)(1)) But the Legislature also found a significant risk of losing parks to other uses due to their aging infrastructure and increasing costs. (*Id.*) And the State would thereby lose another value of these parks. The Legislature found that they can "provide a significant source of homeownership for California residents. . . ." (*Id.*)

In 1984, accordingly, the Legislature adopted a strategy for conserving mobilehome parks as a unique affordable-housing resource. It adopted a policy "to encourage and facilitate the conversion of mobilehome parks to resident ownership" (*id.*, subd.(b)), or "ownership by qualified nonprofit housing sponsors or by local public entities. . . ." (*Id.*)

Government Code § 66427.5 requires a formal subdivision map to convert a park to resident ownership. And there is no dispute that this statute sets forth primary statewide rules for approving such a map.

The question presented here is whether any *other* rules apply if a park lies within the coastal zone — more particularly, when the map changes nothing except the formal title structure of the park.

On it face, § 66427.5 answers that question "no." Its plain intent is to streamline the approval process in *all* cases when a map is required. (The full text is attached as Appendix A to this brief.)

To begin with, the statute sets forth three requirements for the map applicant, requirements explained as means to "avoid the economic displacement of all nonpurchasing residents. . . ." (*Id.*) The applicant must (1) file a tenant impact report and a resident survey, (2) make the tenant impact report available to residents at least 15 days before the required hearing, and (3) offer all residents the right to purchase their space. (*Id.*, subds. (a)-(d))

After stating those requirements, § 66427.5 specifies that the hearing must be before the legislative or advisory body that reviews subdivision maps in general. (*Id.*, subd. (e)) But then the Legislature made its streamlining intent apparent, and emphatic. It provided that

"the scope of the hearing shall be limited to the issue of compliance with this section." $(Id.)^1$

Nonetheless, when Palisades sought approval of this type of map from defendant and respondent City of Los Angeles ("the city"), the city imposed conditions well beyond those set forth in § 66427.5. As relevant here, it refused even to consider the map unless Palisades expanded its application to request city review and approval under the Coastal Act and Mello Act.

The city exceeded its authority for two reasons. First, the text and history of § 66427.5 demonstrate that the Legislature intended this statute *alone* to govern map approvals of this kind. Indeed, the demonstrable purpose of the 1995 amendments to § 66427.5, which the hearing provision, was to avoid the very situation that occurred below: a local government erecting a "virtual roadblock" to this type of conversion. (*Post*, p. 21) As well illustrated here, it would strengthen and multiply such roadblocks if localities could pile on conditions purportedly justified by other laws.

¹ The statute also looks beyond the map approval process, and further protects non-purchasing residents by limiting rents according to the residents' income. (§ 66427.5, subd. (f))

Second, the Coastal Act and Mello Act themselves were not intended to apply. The Coastal Act, for example, applies only to a "development" in the coastal zone as defined in Pub. Res. Code § 30106. (The full text is attached as Appendix B.) And the clause in the definition that mentions a "subdivision" cannot reasonably be read to apply to the special type of subdivision at issue here.² Its plain meaning, consistent with settled rules of construction, is that a subdivision is covered only if it entails a "change in the density or intensity of use" of the land. And here, undisputedly, there is no such change. (*Post*, pp. 6-8)

Nor does the Mello Act apply. (The text is attached as Appendix C.) First, it expressly preserves limitations on local power of the kind imposed by § 66427.5. Second, the Legislature adopted § 66427.5 in its present form long after the Mello Act. Accordingly, because the Mello Act *can* be given a narrowing construction to avoid its implied repeal by § 66427.5, it *must* be given that construction, leaving its operation intact in other ways.

² This clause reads, in pertinent part: "change in the density or intensity of use of land, including, but not limited to, subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act (commencing with Section 66410 of the Government Code), and any other division of land, including lot splits. . . . "

For all the reasons set forth in this brief, the Court should reverse the appellate judgment below and remand with directions to the city to process Palisades's application only in accordance with § 66427.5. That is, it must conduct a prompt hearing "limited to the issue of compliance with this section." (Govt. Code § 66427.5, subd.(e))

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.

THE PROPOSED MAP CHANGED ONLY FORMAL TITLE STRUCTURE, NOT INTENSITY OR DENSITY OF USE OR ANYTHING ELSE

It was undisputed in both courts below that Palisades's map application involved no change in the density or intensity of the use of the park in question, and no other physical or environmental change either. The application involved nothing but a formal change in the park's title structure within the meaning of Govt. Code § 66427.5.

The application itself (Volume 2 of the Appellant's Appendix [hereafter, "2 AA —"] at 242-357) makes this clear:

• The transmittal letter from the engineer for Palisades stated: "No change in use or new improvements are proposed as part of this project. In addition, no tenant will be displaced or evicted as a result of this project." (*Id.* 240)

- On the first page of the application, Palisades stated: "This application is a request to convert an existing mobile home park from a tenant occupied park to an ownership park in accordance with California Government Code 66427.5. No changes to land use or new improvements are proposed as part of this project. No tenant will be evicted or asked to terminate their tenancy." (Id. 242; italics added)
- On the "Environmental Assessment Form" (2 AA 319 *et seq.*)
 Palisades repeated: "No additional improvements or development is proposed." (*Id.* 320)
- To a question about any grading, Palisades answered "N/A."
 (2 AA 320)
- To a question about "the amount of dirt being imported or exported," again the answer was "N/A." (Id.)
- To a question about the "Residential project," Palisades answered: "All facilities exist. No additional development is proposed."
 (Id. 321)
- To a question about "Mitigating Measures," Palisades repeated: "N/A — all existing facilities exist. No additional development is proposed." (*Id.* 322)

Although the application speaks for itself, we note that the city adduced no contrary evidence about Palisades's proposal. No witness intimated that Palisades was concealing or overlooking a prospective

change of density or intensity of the park's use or any physical or environmental change. The city fully accepted Palisades's statements in the application.

Nor did the city ever suggest otherwise in either court below. At a key superior court hearing, for example, Palisades's counsel, Craig Collins, Esq., stated: "there is not one shovel of dirt that is being moved. Not one nail is going to be driven. We are just converting an existing park into a different type of ownership." (RT E-30,³ Ins. 12-15) The city's counsel, Amy Brothers, Esq., voiced no objection to that statement.

Similar statements in Palisades's appellate briefs likewise went unchallenged. The opening brief stated: "the proposed conversion would not change anything in the physical world. It is merely a change in the form of ownership of the existing property." (Combined RB/XAOB 9) And a reply brief stated: the map "involves no single shovel of dirt being turned, or wall being moved, or any physical manifestation visible to the outside world. No oak trees will be touched. No sewage altered. No changes in solar shading will result." (X-Reply 9)

³ The transcript assigns new capital letters with new sequential numbers to the separate hearings bound together in a single volume.

Finally, and not surprisingly, neither court below suggested that Palisades's application actually involved a change in the density or intensity of the use of the park, or any other physical or environmental change either. Both courts fully accepted Palisades's characterization of its application.

В.

THE STONE WALL IN LOS ANGELES

Also undisputed were the basic proceedings at the city, and we therefore cite the superior court's relevant findings. It was April 23, 2007, when Palisades first contacted the city to determine what information to include in its map application. (9 AA 1952) But when Palisades first attempted to submit the application, on June 21, 2007, city officials claimed they were not "ready" for it because the city had no checklist of required items. (*Id.*) As a result, Palisades spent the next five months trying to work with the city to develop such a checklist. (*Id.*)

Ultimately, on November 13, 2007, Palisades submitted the 115-page application summarized previously in this brief. (2 AA 242-357)

But this attempt, too, was in vain. As confirmed by a city employee's email on November 20, 2007, he did not even accept the application for filing when Palisades presented it at the counter. (*Id.* 1953)

The e-mail also listed five items that "you need to file [with] your application. . ." (2 AA 235, 9 AA 1953) As summarized by the superior court, those items were: "(1) apply for a general plan amendment and zoning change, (2) apply for Mello Act clearance, (3) apply for a coastal development permit, (4) submit a parcel map application, and (5) submit a new tenant impact report." (9 AA 1957)

Facing the certainty of further stonewalling, Palisades sought judicial relief in the Superior Court of Los Angeles County on January 17, 2008. (1 AA 8-30)

C.

THE RELEVANT PROCEEDINGS

The issues before this Court require only a brief summary of the contentions below. To begin with, Palisades consistently argued that § 66427.5 was the only statute that applies to the map applications it covers. For example, Palisades's original petition for a writ of mandate, coupled with a complaint for injunctive and declaratory relief (1 AA 8-30), alleged:

The Legislature has mandated that the City must review an application of the type that is the subject of this action in a very limited way. The City is restricted to evaluating whether the application for conversion comports with the requirements of Govt. Code § 66427.5. (1 AA 19, ¶ 33)

Thus, Palisades sought a writ commanding the city to "process the Petitioner's application under the limited review process allowed pursuant to Government Code § 66427.5; and . . . approve Petitioner's application." (1 AA 30, Ins. 1-4; see also, (1 AA 30, ¶ 2 [prayer for declaratory relief].) Similarly, its principal brief in the superior court argued: "[t]he Legislature intended § 66427.5 to preclude all other regulation. . . ." (5 AA 1096:16-17; italics added)

The city's primary response was not that § 66427.5 did not apply, but that the Coastal Act and Mello Act *also* applied. Regarding the former, for example, the city pointed to the "development" definition in Public Resources Code § 30106, as construed in *California Coastal Comm. v. Quanta Inv. Corp.* (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 579 ("*Quanta*"). The city insisted that *any* subdivision is included in the definition, even where, as here, it entails no change in density or intensity of use. (*E.g.*, 6 AA 1382; AOB 16-17)

Palisades replied to that contention in two ways. Primarily, it argued that the development definition need not even be reached. It explained that the case involves only the *city's* demand for a coastal

permit, not a demand by the state Coastal Commission,⁴ and that a local government's demand for anything other than compliance with § 66427.5 was preempted. (*E.g.*, 5 AA 1090-1096)

But Palisades also disputed the city's reading of the Coastal Act. In the superior court, Palisades's principal brief argued: "[t]he

Legislature never said or did anything [in the Coastal Act] to suggest that it intended to allow the City to adopt some different or more difficult process [than mandated by § 66427.5] when considering mobilehome park conversions that occur in the coastal zone." (5 AA 1099:12-14)

And Palisades renewed that contention in the Court of Appeal, the first time parenthetically but clearly. Its principal brief as respondent and cross-appellant questioned whether there were any "coastal considerations" at all in this case — justifying even Coastal Commission jurisdiction — "when no physical change to the property will occur. . . ." (RB/XAOB 44) Palisades also elaborated on that point in its cross-appellant's reply brief (pp. 27-31), though the court upheld the city's claim that it exceeded the proper scope of that brief.

⁴ E.g.: "Palisades Bowl may be required to apply for a permit from the state Coastal Commission (which is an issue not before the Court), but not from the City pursuant to the City's local program." (RB/XAOB 43; emphasis added) "

As for the Mello Act, Palisades argued that § 66427.5 was later enacted and more specific on the subject of this case, and that the Mello Act thus deferred to § 66427.5. (5 AA 1096-1097) In the Superior Court, for example, Palisades argued that the affordable-housing policy of the Mello Act had to be read in harmony with the similar policy underlying § 66427.5. (*Id.* 1097, Ins. 6-8) Explaining later: "the Legislature, which was aware of its previous adoption of the Mello Act, intended to exclude its application from this narrow category of conversions governed by § 66427.5, which has its own affordable-housing protection provisions. . . . (9 AA 1923:13-16)

Palisades also explained in the Court of Appeal that the Mello Act was not "repealed" or "preempted" in this manner, as the city characterized its argument. Rather, Palisades said the Mello Act required only a reasonable and narrow construction of the earlier enactment. Its principal brief stated: "the Mello Act may even apply to other types of mobilehome conversions, such as [Govt. Code] section 66427.4 (conversion to a different use) or section 66428.1 (conversion with resident support), which do not similarly limit the City's review and thus might be subject to any properly adopted local affordable-housing requirements." (RB/ XAOB 50)

Thus were the issues presented in the Court of Appeal. The city's primary argument was that the construction of all three statutes in dispute was necessary and dispositive, and the Court of Appeal agreed. Never suggesting any issue was conceded, the court construed every statute in question as an adjudication on the merits. We now demonstrate, with respect, that its adjudications were erroneous.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

INTRODUCTION

The essential error below, successfully advocated by the city, was substituting the Court of Appeal's judgment for the Legislature's. When statutes allegedly overlap or conflict, any court's job is to determine how the *Legislature* intended them to co-exist, as evidenced by their text or history. Only if those sources prove unavailing may the court rely on its own assessment of the competing policies, as is necessary in rare cases like *Mejia v. Reed* (2003) 31 Cal. 4th 657.

The Court of Appeal below cited *Mejia*, but did not follow its teaching. *Mejia* resorted to policy assessment reluctantly, only after exhaustively analyzing the text and history of conflicting statutes for clues to harmonize them. (31 Cal.4th 664-668) Here, by contrast, the Court

of Appeal too quickly embraced the city's expansive reading of the Coastal Act and Mello Act, too quickly declared them in conflict with Govt. Code § 66427.5, and too quickly resolved the perceived conflict by applying the court's own assessments of "importance":

To be sure, the policy behind section 66427.5 is an important one [¶] But the policy considerations behind the Coastal Act — as well as the Mello Act, inasmuch as its genesis was the Coastal Act . . . — are far more extensive. . . . (114 Cal.Rptr.3d 838, 854-855)

This brief will demonstrate that the text and history of the relevant statutes provide ample guidance for resolving the "conflict of mandates" perceived below. (114 Cal.Rptr.3d 854) Read alone, and even more so together, the three statutes reveal a legislative intent to make § 66427.5 the exclusive authority over its subject matter. Otherwise, the other two statutes would invite sabotage of a longstanding policy as well illustrated here.

THE TEXT AND HISTORY OF GOVT. CODE § 66427.5 ESTABLISH THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT TO MAKE IT THE ONLY STATUTE APPLYING TO ITS SUBJECT

There is unequivocal evidence that the Legislature intended to make § 66427.5 the exclusive authority over its subject matter. We examine the text first, and then the history.

A.

THE TEXT AS AMENDED IN 1995

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