Supreme Court No. S187243 2d Civil No. B216515 LASC Case No. BS112956

CRC 8.25(b)

SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPREME COURT

MAY - 3 2011

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

PACIFIC PALISADES BOWL MOBILE ESTATES, LLC Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES Defendant and Appellant.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE CITY OF LOS ANGELES

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH, City Attorney (86629x)
KENNETH FONG, Deputy City Attorney (140609)
AMY BROTHERS, Deputy City Attorney (206283)
700 City Hall East
200 North Main Street
Los Angeles, California 90012
Telephone (213) 978-8069
Facsimile (213) 978-8214

Attorneys for Defendant and Appellant CITY OF LOS ANGELES

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

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Because there is an apparent conflict between the Mello Act,
Coastal Act and Government Code section 66427.5, the court's task is
to harmonize the three statutes. *Mejia v. Reed* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 657,
664.

"[E]very statute should be construed with reference to the whole system of law of which it is a part, so that all may be harmonized and have effect." (*Moore v. Panish* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 535, 541....) "Where as here two codes are to be construed, they 'must be regarded as blending into each other and forming a single statute.' [Citation.] Accordingly, they 'must be read together and so construed as to give effect, when possible, to all the provisions thereof.' [Citation.]" (*Tripp v. Swoap* (1976) 17 Cal. 3d 671, 679...)

Id.

Section 66427.5(e) states that "the scope of the hearing shall be limited to the issue of compliance with this section." According to Palisades Bowl, this means a local agency considering a section 66427.5 subdivision may not consider any factors not explicitly mentioned in section 66427.5. Under this view, both the Mello Act

and the Coastal Act would be excluded because they are not among the factors explicitly mentioned in section 66427.5. Yet the plain language of the Mello Act provides that a local agency may not approve a conversion of existing affordable housing units, including "a mobilehome or a mobilehome park...to a condominium, cooperative or similar form of ownership" in the coastal zone unless provision has been made for replacement dwelling units. Gov. Code section 65590(g)(1). Meanwhile, the Coastal Act requires a coastal development permit for any development "changing density or intensity of use of land, including, but not limited to, subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act..."

As in this instance, when the plain meaning of the statutory text and its legislative history are insufficient to resolve the question of statute's interpretation, the court must consider the public policy impact of a given interpretation. Where "uncertainty exists consideration should be given to the consequences that will flow from a particular interpretation." *Mejia v. Reed* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 657, 664 *citing Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment and Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387. If a statute is amenable to two alternative interpretations, the one that leads to the more reasonable result will be

followed. *Absher v. Autozone, Inc.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 332, 340. As demonstrated below, policy considerations behind the Mello and Coastal Acts are far greater than that of section 66427.5. In fact, exemption of section 66427.5 subdivisions from the Coastal and Mello Acts would have serious ramifications which contradict the purposes of the Mello and Coastal Acts and chip away at the Acts' breadth and purposes. Consequently, the Mello and Coastal Acts must be applied to this section 66427.5 subdivision.

II. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE MELLO ACT, COASTAL ACT AND SECTION 66427.5 REVEAL THE CONFLICT BUT FAIL TO RESOLVE IT

We begin with a review of the statutory texts and the relevant legislative history. *Mejia*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at 664-667.

A. Section 66427.5 Only Precludes Application of Local Ordinance Requirements to This Subdivision

Section 66427.5⁵ is located squarely in the Subdivision Map Act and is one of three subsections governing subdivisions of

⁵ § 66427.5. Displacement of nonpurchasing residents At the time of filing a tentative or parcel map for a subdivision to be created from the conversion of a rental mobilehome park to resident ownership, the subdivider shall avoid the economic displacement of all nonpurchasing residents in the following manner:

⁽a) The subdivider shall offer each existing tenant an option to either purchase his or her condominium or subdivided unit, which is to be

created by the conversion of the park to resident ownership, or to continue residency as a tenant.

- **(b)** The subdivider shall file a report on the impact of the conversion upon residents of the mobilehome park to be converted to resident owned subdivided interest.
- (c) The subdivider shall make a copy of the report available to each resident of the mobilehome park at least 15 days prior to the hearing on the map by the advisory agency or, if there is no advisory agency, by the legislative body.

(d)

- (1) The subdivider shall obtain a survey of support of residents of the mobilehome park for the proposed conversion.
- (2) The survey of support shall be conducted in accordance with an agreement between the subdivider and a resident homeowners' association, if any, that is independent of the subdivider or mobilehome park owner.
 - (3) The survey shall be obtained pursuant to a written ballot.
- (4) The survey shall be conducted so that each occupied mobilehome space has one vote.
- (5) The results of the survey shall be submitted to the local agency upon the filing of the tentative or parcel map, to be considered as part of the subdivision map hearing prescribed by subdivision (e).
- **(e)** The subdivider shall be subject to a hearing by a legislative body or advisory agency, which is authorized by local ordinance to approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove the map. The scope of the hearing shall be limited to the issue of compliance with this section.
- **(f)** The subdivider shall be required to avoid the economic displacement of all nonpurchasing residents in accordance with the following:

mobilehome parks. The Subdivision Map Act is the 'primary regulatory control' governing the subdivision of real property in California. *Gardner v. County of Sonoma* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 990, 996-997 *quoting Hill v. Clovis* (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 438, 445.

Section 66427.5 applies to conversions of mobilehome parks to residential ownership. An application for a subdivision under section 66427.5 must include 1) a tentative tract or parcel map application, 2) a report on the impact of the conversion on the residents, and 3) a survey of resident support. Additionally, the subdivider must attempt to avoid the economic displacement of non purchasing residents in several ways. First, the subdivider must offer each existing tenant the

⁽¹⁾ As to nonpurchasing residents who are not lower income households, as defined in Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety Code, the monthly rent, including any applicable fees or charges for use of any preconversion amenities, may increase from the preconversion rent to market levels, as defined in an appraisal conducted in accordance with nationally recognized professional appraisal standards, in equal annual increases over a four-year period.

⁽²⁾ As to nonpurchasing residents who are lower income households, as defined in Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety Code, the monthly rent...may increase from the preconversion rent by an amount equal to the average monthly increase in rent in the four years immediately preceding the conversion, except that in no event shall the monthly rent be increased by an amount greater than the average monthly percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for the most recently reported period."

option to either purchase his unit or to continue residency as a tenant. (Section 66427.5(a).) For the residents who are unable or unwilling to purchase, the subdivider must 1) allow low income residents to continue to rent at the current monthly rate, increased by no more than the consumer price index, and 2) allow the remaining residents to continue to rent: market rate levels of rent will be phased in over four years. (Section 66427.5(f).)

Finally, Section 66427.5(e) provides that "the scope of the hearing [on the map] shall be limited to the issue of compliance with this section." The three published cases interpreting section 66427.5(e), have held that it precludes local authorities from "inject[ing] ... factors [other than those set forth in the statute] when considering an application to convert an existing mobilehome park from a rental to a resident-owner basis." (Sequoia Park Associates v. County of Sonoma (2009) 176 Ca.App.4th 1270, 1297...; see also El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd. v. City of Palm Springs (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1153, 1163-1164 [the city did not have power to impose mitigating conditions on mobilehome park owner and Colony Cove Properties, LLC v. City of Carson (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th at 1487) Palisades Bowl, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th at 1477. As the Appellate

Court correctly pointed out, the three decisions addressed situations in which the local authority imposed requirements that were not mandated by another state statute, and thus none of the cases controls here. *Id*.

For example, the City of Palm Springs conditioned approval of *El Dorado's* section 66427.5 subdivision application upon three *locally devised* measures intended to protect the non-purchasing tenants. *El Dorado*, *supra*, 96 Cal.App.4th at 1156. *El Dorado* challenged the city's action, arguing that Palm Springs was not permitted by Gov. Code section 66427.5 to require the three further mitigating conditions. The three *locally devised* conditions were 1) use of a "Map Act Rent Date;" 2) use of a sale price established by a specified appraisal firm and 3) financial assistance to all residents in the park to facilitate their purchase of the lots underlying their mobilehomes.

The *El Dorado* court found the legislative purpose of section 66427.5 was to avoid economic displacement of nonpurchasing residents in the event of a conversion to resident ownership. *Id.* at 1166. According to the court, section 66427.5 carries out this purpose by requiring the subdivider to offer each existing tenant the option to

either purchase their subdivided unit or to remain as a tenant with rents increasing to market levels over a four-year period. *Id*.

Ultimately, the court found the city of Palm Springs lacked the authority to condition approval of the subdivision application on imposition of the three *local* mitigation measures, since section 66427.5 limited the power of the local authority to a determination of whether the subdivider had complied with the provisions of the section. *Id*. at 1163-1164.

Similarly, the *Sequoia Park* court concluded that Sonoma County's ordinance governing mobilehome park subdivisions "is impliedly preempted because the Legislature, which has established a dominant role for the state in regulating mobilehomes, has indicated its intent to forestall *local intrusion* into the particular terrain of mobilehome conversions, declining to expand section 66427.5 in ways that would authorize *local governments* to impose additional conditions or requirements for conversion approval." *Sequoia Park*, *supra*, 176 Cal.App.4th 1270, 1275 (emphasis added). As a prelude to its holding, the *Sequoia Park* court reviewed the state's mobilehome park legislation to illustrate the extent of *state* control in the area.

The Sequoia Park court rejected Sonoma County's entire ordinance, primarily because it mandated local tenant displacement mitigation measures of the sort overruled in El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd. v. City of Palm Springs (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1153. For example, Sonoma County's ordinance required the local advisory agency to deny the subdivision application if less than 20% of the residents supported the conversion. Sequoia Park, supra, 176 Cal.App.4th at 1292. The ordinance also authorized the county to approve the application only if the subdivider demonstrated that appropriate financial provision had been made to underwrite and ensure proper long-term management and maintenance of all common facilities and infrastructure. Id. at 1299.

Most recently, the *Colony Cove, supra*, panel noted that the City of Carson's local ordinance governing mobilehome park subdivisions improperly imposed additional requirements in connection with obtaining tentative map approval which were not expressly authorized by section 66427.5. For example, if the tenant survey indicated 50 percent or more of the park residents supported the conversion, it would be presumed bona fide; and if resident support fell between 35 and 50 percent, the owner would be required

to demonstrate a plan to convey the majority of the lots to current residents within a reasonable period of time. 187 Cal.App.4th at 1492.

The *Colony Cove* court was careful to distinguish between the issue raised in *Colony Cove* and the issue raised in *Palisades Bowl* "the City [of Carson] does not claim that it is attempting to implement a different state statute, which by its terms, applies to conversions of mobilehome parks." 187 Cal.App.4th at 1497, fn. 9. Similarly, the *Palisades Bowl* panel noted the *Colony Cove* case did not address the issue raised here, involving the contention that the local authority has imposed additional requirements mandated by a different state statute. *Id.* at 1477.

The notion that the Mello Act and the Coastal Act, both of which are state law, are superseded by a small portion of the Subdivision Map Act is not consistent with the holding in any of the three cases – Sequoia Park, supra, El Dorado, supra, and Colony Cove, supra.

Palisades Bowl claims that there are several indicia which reveal the Legislature's intent to make the procedures set forth in Section 66427.5(e) the exclusive statewide procedure for subdivisions of mobilehome parks to residential ownership. (Opening Brief, p. 26.)

This theory is not supported by the legislative history. First, Palisades Bowl's assumption that section 66427.5 is the Legislature's last relevant word on the issue is incorrect. (Opening Brief, p. 22.) In fact, the last word from the Legislature appeared in 2003 when it amended the Coastal Act to reconfirm the importance of preserving affordable housing in the coastal zone for low and moderate income families. (Pub. Res. Code sections 30604(f) and (g).) Similar language, which stated that one objective of the Coastal Act was to preserve affordable housing in the coastal zone, existed in the former Pub. Res. Code section 30213, from 1976 until 1981. The language had been removed from Pub. Res. Code section 30213 when the Mello Act was enacted.

Palisades Bowl also argues that if the Legislature wanted the Mello and Coastal Acts to apply to section 66427.5 subdivisions, it would have said so when they amended the statute in 2002. (Opening Brief, pp. 22-23.) There are some primary shortcomings to this approach. First, and as discussed in more detail, *post*, in plain language, the Legislature has already indicated that the Mello and Coastal Acts apply to subdivisions of mobilehome parks in the coastal zone. Second, Palisades Bowl fails to show where, either before or

after *El Dorado*, *supra*, the Legislature said or indicated that it intended to abridge the applications of the Coastal Act and the Mello Acts.

No part of the legislative history for which Palisades Bowl seeks judicial notice concerning the 2002 amendments to section 66427.5 bolsters its position in any way. (RJN, Exhibits 2-5.) The legislative history materials proffered by Palisades Bowl compel just one definite conclusion – the Legislature did not mention or consider the notion that section 66427.5 would preclude the application of other state statutes, including the Mello and Coastal Acts, to such conversions.

B. The Coastal Act's Purpose is Fortified by Its Requirement of a Coastal Development Permit for Any Development in the Coastal Zone

The Coastal Act of 1976, Pub. Res. Code §§30000 *et seq.*, is the legislative-continuation of the coastal protection afforded by Proposition 20, the Coastal Initiative of 1972. One of the primary reasons for both of these acts was to avoid the deleterious consequences of haphazard and random development on coastal resources. *Pacific Legal Foundation v. California Coastal Com.* (1982) 33 Cal.3d 158, 162-163. The Coastal Act is a comprehensive

statutory scheme aimed at protecting the coastal zone; its goals include protecting the overall quality of the coastal zone and its natural and artificial resources, assuring balanced utilization and conservation of resources, maximization of public access and recreational opportunities, assuring priority for coastal dependent and related development, and encouraging state and local initiatives and cooperation. *Marine Forests Society v. California Coastal Commission* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1, 19, fn.3. The Coastal Act is to be liberally construed to accomplish its purposes and objectives. (Pub. Res. Code §30009); *Ojavan Investors, Inc. v. California Coastal Commission* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 373, 386.

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